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stream!, were of much greater importance, previous 
to the construction of the railroad, than now. They 
consisted principally of a suitable place for landing 
and loading boats, and for these purposes granaries 
were erected. The principal one on the Murderkill 
Creek was Fork Landing, where, in 1816, Levi Li~ter 
owned a wharf and granary, and another wharf and 
granary was jointly owned by Thomas Sipple and 
William Tomlinson. In 1852 there were here three 
granaries, two stores and several dwellings. Two 
vessels plied weekly between this landing and Phila­
delphia, carrying grain to the latter place. It is now 
occasionally visited by boats of light tonnage. 

SCHOOLS, -The several subscription schools in 
operation previous to 1829 gave way to the common 
school system adopted in that year. The hundre.d 
was divided into school districts, and school-houses 
erected in suitable locations. Among th_e pioneer 
district-school teachers within the bounds of Milford 
Hundred, were John Quillen, John Sharp, William 
Hurley, Martin Harrington and --- Harvey. As 
the buildings became dilapidated, new and more com­
modious ones were erected, and when the scholars 
became too numerous, new school districts were 
created. The schools of to-day in this hundred are 
in an excellent condition, being supplied with many 
conveniences, and taught for nine months each year 
by skillful and competent teachers. 

MILFORD TOWN, 

The town of Milford is located on both sides 
of the Mis pillion Creek, -North Milford, or the 
old town, being taken from Milford Hundred, Kent 
County, and South Milford being taken from Ce­
dar Creek Hundred, Sussex County. The town is 
located on a tract called "Saw-Mill Range," contain­
ing seventeen hundred and fifty acres of land, which 
was warranted to Henry Bowman, March 20, 1680, 
on condition that he should build a saw-mill thereon. 
It is probable that he complied with the conditions 
of the contract and built a saw-mill, but just where 
it was located it is now impossible to tell. Saw-Mill 
Range passed from Henry Bowman to hiR son John, 

who, May 5, 1730, sold five hundred and ten acres 
of it to Joseph Booth, who gave part of it to his son 
John, who sold it to William Manlove, Jr. 

May 17th, 1771, Joseph Oliver purchased one hun­
dred and fifteen acres of Saw-Mill Range of Jacob 
Warrington, who then owned it, and April 17, 1773, 
he bought, adjoining, a tract of Levin Crapper, also 
part of Saw-Mill Range, also part of an adjoining 
tract called "Improvement," of the Pennsylvania 
Land Company. 

February 23, 1774, Nathan Adamil (merchant) 
bought one-quarter of an acre of land lying on the 
creek near the place called Millstone Landing, now 
known as New Wharf Landing, of Joseph Oliver. In 
1787 Joseph Oliver had James Johnson survey the 
land lying on the north side of Mispillion Creek into 
town lots. Some of these lots were conveyed by deed, 

but moat of them were demised by perpetual lease, 
with a reservation of ground-rent, which is still paid 
annually. The first lot of which there is any record 
at Dover was taken by William Johnson, on the 
corner of Water and Walnut Streets, and is now occu­
pied by C. W. Davidson, jeweler. The boundaries of 
the lot are here given, as a specimen of a curiously 
minute dewription :-
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feot three inch t'!8 ; tbon..Q6 lent- lug 83. ld 1rtrent north eov nty-nJne degr.cc1, 
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to W~tor Stroot; Lh•nco with W~t.or St:ruol 1outh 110venfy­
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1il1Ulo of boglnnlo;:. Coutalnlllg lwo 11,onlllllld eig ht l.nmdrctl nud olgltty 
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Joseph Oliver, Sr., leased or sold after this town 
lots to the following persona, as found among the 
minutes of James Johnson's surveys: Joseph Ayde­
lott, two lots on Front Street in 1794, ThomaM Allen, 
William Briuckle, James Bowen, Nancy Bradley, 
Nancy Bateman, Jesse Bradley, William Crumpton, 
John Cary, James Carman, Joseph Carman, John 
Collins, Thomas Collins, John Crumpton, Elza Col­
lins, Zabdie\ Dawson, .James Dawson, Peter Davis, 
Jonathan Dyer, Abuer Dill, John Davis, Molly 
Davis, Andrew Davis, Sarah Davis, Monk Davis, 
Charles Draper, John Flemming from Peter Caverly, 
Joram Griffith, Belitha Glass, Isaiah James in 1787, 
Elijah Jester, John Houston, Isaac Lofland, John 
Laws (bricklayer), Thomas Marriner, Jonathan Man­
love, James Millechop, John Newcom, Gauladett 
Oliver, John Pleasonton, Andrew Patton, Curtis Pal­
more, Samuel Pasley, Richard Pettigrew, William 
Borden, Thomas Strowd, Joshua Spencer, Noah Spen­
cer, Elias Shockley, Johu Ralston, Nathan Russom, 
Nehemiah Riley, Johu Thomas, Stephen Townsend, 
Pompey Turner, Jamee 'l'ichner, Andrew Withs, Levi 
Wilents, Jasper Waller, William Margin, Bethuel 
Wat~on, William Ward, David Walton. 

According to James Johnson's notes he began May 
28, 1817, to survey and lay out the town of Milford, 
under the direction and superintendence of John 
Pettigrew, Dr. Joseph Suciler, John Wallace, Martin 
Dewaley and William Davis, commissioners, duly 
elected to lay out the town of Milford, in pursuance 
of a special act of the Delaware Legislature. After 
being sworn by James Millechop, Esq., they proceeded 
to attend to the duties of their appointment. 

The following are the boundaries given on a map in 
1838: "Beginning at Mis pillion Creek, at Paul Knabb's 
Landing; thence with a line of land formerly of Sam­
uel Oliver, Sen. and John Draper, North 58° West up 
the lane leading to Paul Knabb's; thence on a division 
line of lots now of Geo. S. Atkins and James T. Bur­
leigh, Gauladett Oliver, John Wallace, Peter F. 
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Causey and Mary K. Shockley, 148 perches out to the 
road leading from Milford to Frederica and in a line 
of land formerly of Wm. Bradley, dec'd, for the said 
Oliver and Draper land; thence with said line South 
22° West acro11s the lot of Mary R. Shockley's lot, in­
cluding two and a half acres there◊f in the limits of 
said town; . . across the lot of Edward Collins, 
Sen., dec'd, including one-third thereof, with the dwell­
ing-house in the limits of said town, across the 
county road six and three-tenths perches, north of a 
stone buried on the North west side of said road oppo­
site North Street; thence across Henderson Collins' lot 
on the east side of the Quaker meeting-house roitd, in­
cluding three and one-half acres thereof in the limits 
of said town to itnd across the meeting-house road and 
a piece of woous of Benjamin Potter's and Benjamin 
Henderson's line, making the whole line one hundred 
and ninety-two perches; thence with said Potter and 
Henderson's line, formerly Oliver's, west thirty-two 
perches to an old white oak stump near Cullin's 
branch; thence into and down the water-course of 
said Cullin's branch to Mispillion Creek; thence 
down said creek to the place of beginning." In 1886 
the lines were changed in some places. The first line 
extends from the Frederica road to a branch thereof, 
where it corners, forming nearly a right angle, thence 
to Cullin's Branch, thence following the streams as 
before to the place of beginning. 

South Milford has been laid out since by James 
Johnson and resurveyed by Thomas "J. Davis. It lies 
on the south side of Mi~pillion Creek, and has Front 
and Second Streets parallel ,vith the creek and 
Georgetown Road, Washington, Mortgomery, Frank­
lin and McColley Streets running from the creek. 
Carlisle Lane runs diagonally from the corner of 
Franklin and Front to Second Street; Causey Street 
extends from the Georgetown Road to the depot. 
The town contains some three thousand inhabitants. 
According to the Gleaner in 1856, the population of 
the town was "two thousand inhabitants, with twenty­
five stores, two hotels, twelve schooners and sloops 
running to Philadelphia. The export trade at this 
time was said to be 250,000 bushels of corn, 30,000 
bushels of wheat, 10,000 bushels of oats, 5000 bushels 
of rye, 2500 cords of wood, 400 cords of bark and 400 
cords of quercitron, worth $351,500, and the imports 
were placed at $225,000. The exports and imports 
by shipping are not as much as formerly; but if what 
is transported by vessels is added to that carried by 
the cars, the amount would probably amount to more 
than in 1856. 

CORPORATION HIS'.roRY.-The town of Milford 
was first incorporated in 1807; the first Board of Com­
missioners were Dr. Joseph Sudler, John Wallace, 
Martin Dewaile, William Davis. 

The. act of incorporation passed in 1867 is the only 
one we have records of. Under the town charter they 
elected five commissioners, an alderman, an assessor 
and a treasurer, all for one year. 

1867.-C. S. Watoon, H. B. Fiaaonmn, P. W. Hall, John H. Donning, 

CQmn1IMJonaT"H i -r. 6, Smoot, n.ldoam1.11 j Dr. N. Pm.u, l\ ll!l8Wl80r ; D. S. 
Jl ommom1, ~ llJ.W:tlJr; Jolin B. Donnlo~, afor.k. 

:urns.- A. •r, A. l1'orbort, '.11. F. Irru111nott1ly, J ... Jr. AndOlllOD , John 
On. ll LLU, ·w. Thou1W1 'Prett.]'nu1. n, commiflB:fom:n'S; ,lrut. R.Ufl.Vlff., dde.r.me.n i 
Jn,, Il. ll<J IJ, """"""'"; .R. 8 . Hommo1111, cnll cot.ir; .,) . 1r. Andonon, 
olork. 

1860.- A, T. ' ,\., TorbHI, .D1•. N. J:'rnLI, ·,TQlloph Tniitl:, Wm. ThomOI 
l11·utty1n11n, P. \V. Jinl l, con1.nll~o n.•~Ut ; Jnmea: Bhorl1 n.ldornum; 1Ju. H. 
Dell, l"""MOr ; ,lnoep~ Oorby1 collootaq Dr. N . l'mtt, dark. 

l 87fl.-.J utnan r1:Hrt.le.!11 N. ll. Johntw11 1 J. Y. Foulk, j 
1• F. Hammal'!l ly

1 

-Wm. (. " 'olHh, coru1'n.hiBfone1" ; Ju:mNI ijho1·t, Dildenno.nj ~othll~h GOl''by, 
CQlluC'itQr; Ju11, H. ,. 8 1) !1 1 o,ase1r:ror; J. Y. FOnllc, oloJ'k. 

1871.- 'hnll. T, F lornmfng, Wm. 0. Wel ch, T. F , llnmmcroly, J. Y. 
l"<mlk, John n. C..hrul, Mmmf!llloncm ; Jruno• ~hort, n.ldormll.LI; .loa. IJ. 
llerl, ,....,l!Sor: Got,. A. 1'ooro, onll oolo1· ; J. Y . ti'oull<, olorl<. 

1872.-C. J. ffn ll , N. J. l' lu111u, S, 0. Evai1• , '61,ru,, '1'. l!'lommlng, 
John W. Ul\ueoy, Gao. Ru...,11, curum.!Mlono"'; Wni. 8hocltloy, nlder­
nmn j Jria. ll J)n-vfs, t\Sl:IOMOl' i Gi!o, A. :Mooro1 aolhmtor: 0. J. ITo.11, 
·olork. 

1873.-J. Lowery, Jaa. R Mitchel, John R. Cahall, Geo. Rulll!tlll, D. 
0. K. Strong, Samuel Simpler, commiseionem; '\Vm. Shockley, alder­
man; Jas. B. Mahan, B8888Bor; Geo. A. Moore, coUector i S. M. Simpler, 
clerk. . , 

1874.-Ch••· T. Flemiug, John Cahall, Wm. A. Liotor, Samuel Simp­
ler, A. K. Ha.11 , T. J. Davis, connn lB:aforn.~rs; Wm, Shockley, aldommn i 
R. A. St0wnnl1 assessor; Geo. A. Moon,, collector; Chas, T. F leming, 
clerk. : 

1875.-C. J. Hall, John W, Hallett, John Cahall, M. H. Davi•, Jao, 
Reedy, Wm. H. Dav]s, commiBlioners; Wm. Shockley, alderman; R. A. 
Steward, alil8essor; Geo. A. Moore, collector; M. H. Davie, clerk. 

1876.-C. J. Hall, Jame• Reedy, ,John B. Cannon, John H nllotl, 
Wm. H. Do.vis, M. H. Davis, comml.Mlonen: R. J. Beswick, .u.lder­
man ; R. A. Steward, 8.888BBOr; Wm. B. Truitt, collector; C. J. Ha.II, 
olork. 

1877.-P. W. Hall, Wm. Ulll, John B. Cannon, H. W. McO<>fl,,y, Wm. 
A. Scribner, A. K. Hn11 , aommiB1lorn1rs; Azel Stevens, alde.ri.Jmn • Sam­
uel M. Simpler, asa888or i R. 8. Hammons, collector; H. W. Mcbolley, 
clerk. 

1878.-Elnath&n Smith, John R. Cahall, R. J. Boowlck, H. W, McCol­
ley, Wm. F. Bevill, I. I. Smith, cominissionere; Azel Stevens, alder­
man; Se.muel M. Simpler, EL88e880r j R. 8. Hemmoue, collector; R. J. 
Beswick, clel'k. 

18i9.-R. Y, Watson, Cbarleo T. Fleming, G. W, Jooeph, William F, 
Bevill, Charles ,A. "Blrdr, D. 0. K. Strong, commissioners; Azel Stevens, 
alderman; R. J. Boswick, aseeBBor; George F. Pierce, col1ector; D. o. K. 
Strong, clerk. 

1880.-Fmnk Rickard•, Tho. Townoond, Jame• Reedy, H. W. Mc­
Colloy, S. M. Simpler, Oluwlo• A. Blair, com m.i,,,lonera; Azol Stev•n•, 
alderman; George P. Minor, asseBSOr; Willf~m II. Twigg, collector; 
Theo. Townsend, clerk. 

1881.-Jameo Reedy, J. 0. llrown, Theo. Townoond, Jamoo Ru,ooll, 
Charles A. Blair, M. H. Davis, cmmmisalom:m1; Azel Stevens, a]derman; 
R. J. Beswick, l\lSQSSOr; 8. M. ShuJJlt'.lr, cull tQT j Theo. Townsend, clerk. 

1882.-Dr. G. W, llfaroball, Theo. Townoend, J. 0. Brown, S. w. 
Gray, M. H. Davis, John B. Smith, commiBSloners; Azel Stevens, alder­
man; R. J. Beswick, asBessor; S, ll. Simpler, eolJector; Theo. Town­
send, clerk. 

1883.-Fmnk Reedy, John H. A pol, James Welch, Jamoo A.hhott, John 
W. Ratcliff, R.H. Gilman, commiBBioners; Azel Stevens, alderman; John 
W. Hallett, a.ssesaori S. M Simpler, collector; R. H. Gilman, clerk. 

1884,-John H. A pol, Robt. M. Oarpenter, Ieaac S. Truitt, R. H. Da­
vis, S. N. Gray, J. T. Bells, commlseloners; Azel Stevens, alderman; 
H. W. McColloy, """"""or; J. D. Hill, collecter; Ioa11c S. Truitt, clerk. 

1886.-,lnmo• M. H~II, Johll 1-L Apll l, Wm. N: D raoy, Wm. F. Cauoey, 
Gao. 0. A.bbot.t. Goo, H. Hn.ll~ c.-0n11nh1nlouore; Azol 8t6't•cn!1 alderman i 
n. JJ. D<>vla, <UIBOBH□ r; .r. D. ·nm, oolloctor; Goo. ll. Efoll , cl01·k. 

1886,-James M. HRII, Frank Richards, Wm. T. Watoon, Wm. F. 
Causey, H. W. McOulloy, Wm. A. Hume•, comml .. tonere; R. J. B ... 
wick, alderman ; Theo. Townsend, a.esessor ; J. D, Hill, coJlector; H. w • 
McOolley, clerk. 

An act of reincorporation was passed at Dover on 
February 28, 1887, by which the town began to work 
under a new charter. The government of the town 
now consists of a Town Council, composed of a presi­
dent and six members. The president and three of 
said members shall be freeholders within the town 
limits, the assessor also to be a freeholder. Two of 
said councilmen shall be elected for two years, the 
president and four members for one year. There have 
been several amendments to the old charter, but none 
of much interest. 

Those elected under the new town charter, March 
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7, 1887, were: President, H. W. McColley; William 
T. Watson, James Russell, Joseph M. Davis, R. C. 
Hall, Frank Rickards, Charles H. Tuthill; Alder­
man, R. J. Beswick; Assessor, William G. Herring; 
Collector, Thomas A. Watson; Clerk, Charles H. 
Tuthill. 

Among those who have held the office of justice of 
the peace in Milford are J. Millechop, Samuel Rat­
cliffe, Henry Hudson, John H. Denney, William M. 
W. Dorsey, Manlove Hayes, Richard H. Phillips, 
Robert J. Beswil!k, Lowder Layton, Beniah Watson, 
William Porter, John J. Hazzard, William F. Revill, 
William Shockley, Azel Stevens. Among the post­
masters were Thomas Winsmore, appointed in 1803; 
Charles Mason, Perry Stevenson, Joseph George, 
William M. W. Dorsey, Alexander Hall, A, W. Bell; 
Rhodes S. Hemmons, William G. Hering, R. A. 
Steward, Dr. R. Y. Watson. 

INDUSTRIES.-Milford has always been an in­
dustrious town. The condition upon which Henry 
Bowman took Saw-Mill Range was that he should 
build a saw-mill, and from the name of the tract it is 
~vident that saw-mills were in operation here at an 
early day. In connection with the saw-mills it is 
fitting to observe that ship-building was an early and 
important industry. The oak in this vicinity is good, 
and the reputation of Delaware-built schooners 
and sloops was far extended. A small vessel was 
built up near the dam many years ag6, and a man by 
the name of Du Pre built one vessel at the New 
Wharf. In 1793 action was taken in the Legislature 
in relation to a wharf. Robert Russell was one of 
the first ship-builders where Carlisle's yard now is. 
David West next carried on the business, building 
only about one small vessel per year. M. R. Carlisle 
and William F. Revill carried on ship-building from 
about 1830 to 1850, when Revill retired and Theo­
dore Carlisle entered into partnership with his 
brother. This partnership continued for about thirty 
years, during which time they built many three-masted 
schooners of one thousand tons burden. Since Man­
love Carlisle died Thomas Carlisle has not built 
many vessels. Among other builders were Sylvester 
A. Deputy and his son, James H. Deputy, who built a 
number of ships and worked at the business for many 
years. William A. Scribner also had a yard where 
David Lank, a son of John Lank, another old ship­
builder, now is. There are three ship-yards in opera­
tion now,-Abbott's, Carlisle's and Lank's. A tug­
boat, the first built at Milford, was launched from 
David Lank's yard in 1887. There have been about 
six or seven vessels built per year at these yards for 
many years, They have been mostly sloops or two 
and three-masted-schooners, built for coast-wise trade, 
of from one hundred and fifty to one thousand tons 
burden. 

Grist-Mills.-ln 1787 an act was passed by the 
Delaware Legislature enabling Rev. Sydenham 
Thorne to erect a mill-dam across Mispillion OrE)ek, 
and for the condemnation of a small piece of flat-

land on the Sussex side of the said creek, for the use 
of a grist-mill. This petition represents that Rev. 
Sydenham Thoriie, of Kent County, is the owner of a 
certain tract of land, which affords a very convenient 
situation for a grist-mill, being at the head of Mis­
pillion Creek in the county of Kent. It appears that 
Rev, S. Thorne erected a grist-mill where the Red Mill 
now stands, possibly the same structure that is there 
now, about 1787. The mill is shingled in place of 
siding and has been the same as now as far back as 
any one now living can remember. 

There was a ford here formerly, which gave the 
name Mill Ford or Milford. The head of navigation 
is said to have been farther up the stream prior to the 
erection of the mill dam; be that as it may, the head 
of navigation is now below the mill dam. 

Joseph Oliver immediately began to lay out a town 
and lease lots, as before noticed, and the town from 
this time fort!\ began to grow in population and im­
portance. This section has been celebrated for corn, 
and more recently good wheat has been grown, which 
haM rendered the milling business both necessary and 
profitable. Among the subsequent owners of this 
mill have been Mr. Dutton, John M. Darby, Peter F. 
Causey and his son of the same name, who is the 
present owner. Gov. Causey was also owner of what 
is known as the Haven Mills. The Red Mill has 
four run of stones, and recently one-half roller process 
has been a,dded. . A husk factory was built for Orcutt 
Brothers about 1850, and is now operated by R. H. 
Williams; it manufactures about two hundred thou­
sand tons of husks for matresses. Peter F, Causey 
built a woolen-mill in 1868, which burned down July 
27, 1872, and was rebuilt and operated by Hoffecker & 
Brother, who employed thirty hands and manufactured 
about five thousand yards of cloth per week. These 
mills were one hundred by .fifty feet main building, 
with a picker-room twenty-two by fifty feet. They 
were destroyed by fire in 1882. R.H. Williams oper­
ated a mill for grinding black oak bark to a fine pow­
der, called quercitron, for coloring purposes. This 
branch of indu8try has been abarrdoned since other 
processes have been discovered to produce like colors 
at less expense. George S. Grie.r, an Englishman, has 
OpQrated a foundry and repair-shop here for a num­
ber of years. Allen Tolbert owned the Haven Mills; 
subsequently Edward Stapleford, Joseph Dutton, 
and John M. Clayton finally purchased them for 
John M. Darby. These mills at that time consisted 
of a grist-mill, a saw-mill and carding-machine. The 
tanning business was formerly quite extensively car­
ried on by James Clayton and others. 

James H. Denning started a pottery on Pear Street 
about 1840, and carried on business for about thirty­
five years, making all kinds of earthenware, supply­
ing all the country around. The American ;Basket 
Company was organized at Milford in 1876. 

Alden first fully demonstrated the practicability 
of his fruit-drying process here in 1871, his estab­
lishment then employing ninety hands day and night 
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during the fruit season, which lasts about six weeks, 
and consuming from three hundred to five hundred 
baskets of peaches in twenty-four hours. There are 
now some thirty drying factories in Milford and 
vicinity, which, together with Reis' Cannery, which 
was started in 1881, and employs about eighty or 
ninety hands, having a capacity of from fifteen 
thousand to twenty thousand cans per day, is capa­
ble of disposing of the peach and tomato crop with­
out loss to the farmer, even if there is no pressing 
demand. 

Nathan Davis had a small plow foundry back of 
Lowery's hotel, near John Dunning's pottery, In 
1849, George S. Grier purchased the Haven Mills 
water-power of Peter F. Causey, and started a foun­
dry. He has employed sixteen hands and made agri­
cultural implements of all kinds. Matthews, H!Lll 
& Co. have a foundry near the depot, started about 
1865, where general repairing is done. Isaac Simpson 
has the largest phosphate factory. Clift & Ryder, 
King & Spearman, Peter Truit, Taylor & Sharp 
have been prominent carriage-makers. John Scrib­
ner, blacksmith, years ago made the bolts, screws and 
nails that were used in vessel- building at Milford, 

Merchants.-N ~than Adams took up land at Mill­
stone Landing, now known as the New Wharf, in 
177 4, and is mentioned as a merchant, Adams' heirs 
sold this property to Benjamin Parker. Among the 
early and well-remembered merchants were Molton 
Rickards, Squire Samuel Ratcliffe and 'Walter Sipple 
(who were in partnership), Wm. Sarden (who owned 
the property now owned by Geo. S. Adkin's heirs), 
J ncob Biddle, J oho Wallace, Martin Dewaile, Daniel 
Godwin, John M. Darby, Lowder Layton, Walker 
Sipple, Benjamin Potter (was a merchant and tan­
ner), Peter T. Causey and son, Gov. Peter F. Cau11ey, 
Abner Dill, Benjamin Waddams, Rev. Truston P. 
McColley (hatter and merchant), Peter Griffiths, Isaac 
Lofland, Curtis Watson, Bethuel Walson, Mitchell 
& Warren, George Buchanan, Andrew J. McColley, 
.J o•eph Bennett. About 1840 there were twenty mer­
chants doing business in Milford, every one of whom 
were solvent and worthy of credit. 

Drug &ores.-Joseph S. Bennett, the first druggist 
in Milford, commenced in 1846 where Benjamin 
Anderson has a grocery-store. He was succeeded by 
Thomas Wallace, and Thomas R. Hammersley con­
duded the business for him. Sherwood & Foulk 
succeeded him; after Sherwood died Foulk sold his 
interest to Thomas Sherwood, a son of his former 
partner, and started again where Dr. Marshall now 
resides, in 1856, and in 1870 he removed to his present 
quarters in Watson's block. Thomas Sherwood sold 
to Thomas F. Hammersley, who now has a drug-store 
on Walnut Street. Dr. Marshall, Dr. Pratt and H. L. 
Page now sell drugs. 

The house now owned by Wm. F. Causey, ERq., was 
built in 1750 by an Englishman bv the name of Levin 
-Crapper. Gov. Rogers resided here in the early part of 
the century, and is buried on this farm. Lowder Layton 

was an early merchant in a little store which stood 
where Peter F. Causey, Jr., now lives. The farm 
contained six hundred acres when Rogers owned it. 
In 1849, Governor Causey purchased and refitted it, 
and it is now one of the most desirable residences in 
town. Of Lowder Layton's sons, Caleb S. was asso­
ciate judge of Sussex County, and Garret S. was a 
physician in Milford, and Joshua was a merchant at 
Georgetown. 

Henry Hudson owned the land where South Milford 
now stands, and had James Johnson lay it o:tf into 
town lots in 1819. He built the brick house now 
occupied by Widow Lemuel Draper. The building of 
this house ruined him, financially, and Walker Sipple 
purchased the property, from whom it passed to his 
daughter and John A. Hazard, who sold it to Lemuel 
Drapet. After his failure, Henry Hudson kept the 
hotel where Lowery now is. 

Thomas Davis resided in Cedar Creek Hundred, 
and was a member of the Legislature at one time. 
Two of his sons resided in Milford. Robert M. was 
Treasurer of the State of Delaware, and Thomas J. 
Davis is a surveyor and conveyancer, and has settled 
a large number of estate,. 

Daniel Curry started the first peach orchard in the 
m1ighborhood of Milford, and was laughed at by his 
neighbors for so doing. He was also a grain dealer 
and shipping merchant at Milford. Mary E., his only 
daughter, was the wife of Gen. Torbert. She came into 
possession of her father's real estate, and now residQB 
at Milford. 

Major-General Alfred T. A. Torbert, son of Jona­
than R. Torbert, was born at Georgetown, July 1, 
1833. He was educated at the home school and 
West Point, graduating in 1855. He was with Gen­
eral A. S. Johnston in his campaign against the Mor­
mons in Utah. At the breaking out of the Rebellion 
he helped to organize the New Jersey troops, and was 
commissioned colonel of the First· Regiment of New 
Jersey Volunteers, September 16, 1861, by Gov. Olden, 
and served with the regiment during the Peninsular 
Campaign. In April, 1864, he was appointed briga­
dier-general in command of the First New Jer11ey 
Brigade. May 4, 1864, he was assigned to the first 
division of cavalry under General Sheridan. He did 
gallant service at Winchester, and in many other hard 
fought battles; subsequently he was promoted to 
brevet major-general. He married in January, 1866, 
and resigned his command in the army, and came to 
Milford to live, in the home of his bride, In 1869 he 
was appointed minister to San Salvador, where he re­
mained nearly two years until 1871, when he was 
appointed consul-general to Hiwana, and in 1873 
consul-general to Paris. After his return home he 
devoted himself to his private affairs, and was on his 
way to Mexico on private business when he was 11hip­
wrecked, his body being washed ashore on the coast 
of Florida. He is buried in the Methodiat cemetery. 

Nelson Rickards moved from Georgetown to Mil­
ford about 1837, and started the chair-making business, 
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which he followed for many years. Perry P. and 

James S. sturted. carriage-making, which the former 

still continues. 
Bcthuel Watson, son of Isaac Watsou, who patentecl 

land in S u8l!ex ounty in 1786, lived in Cedar Creek 

Hundred. Jesse Wat.8ou, son of Bethuel, married 

Rachel dollins, and their eon__Beniab ciune to Milford, 

and engaged in the mercantile business. He took his 

son Curtis into 1,artnersbJp wi.th him, and rifler his 

death, in 1844., urtis nod his brother Bethuel engaged 

in merchandising until the latter died. OurLis S. 

Wat..~on not only engaged extensively in merchandis­

ing at home, but aldO in the export trade. As many 

as twenty ships traded from this port then, and l11rge 

quantiee of quercitron hark, which brought as higp as 

ninety do'llars per ton in Europe, were exported. 

Hie life is worthy of more than pos~ing notice. 

He wa.s born December 9, 1809, in Oedar reek 

Hundred, Sussex County, Delaware, three mile!l south 

of Milford. His grnndfo.ther Jesse Watson was a 

.native of the same hundred, where he lived and die(I, 

at U:ie advanced age of ninety year , a.nd his grand­

mother at eighty-11even years. Jesse- Watson had 

three 11ons, Jeremiah, David and -Uenin.b, and one 

daughter, who married and moved weJJt. Jleniah, the 

youngest son and the futhe1· of CurLie S. Watson, 

early in life learned the carpenter's trade but after hie 

m,m:iage with Elizabeili hockley., engaged for a 

time in farming in Cedar reek Hundred, n.nd owned 

a saw-mill, which he operated. The children of 

Benfah and Elizabeth Watson were Ctir~is S., 

CatbAri ne, Ann, Betlmel and Beo.ifth. 

011rtis S. Watson wn.s tho eldest child. He 

obtained his educatim1 in the schools near his home, 

and at the MiJf6rd Academy, remaining on bis 

father'a farm until he wa,s njneteen years old. He 

then entered a store at Milford as a clerk. When he 

attained the age of twenty-one years, hie father 1md 

h , in 1881, engaged in the mercantile business 111 

Milford, ns the firm ef B. Wntson & Son. Thill 

ce-pnrtnerslli.p continued for ten ye8.l'!I, when his 

father on account of increasing age, retired. Iv!r, 

Watson then took into the business, as partner, his 

brother Bethuel, and the fiTm name was cb.anged to 

C. S. W atso'll & Oo. They carried on a general 

business which gradually grew and developed and 

became very profituble. 'I'hese operations included 

not only th.e buying and selling of store goods, lrnt 

den.ling in real eatate, grain, lime, lumber, fe.rt.:ilzel'1l, 

and other artlclea, by which they suppli cl uumeroll.il 

customers, residing in town and ove:r u huge extent 

ot the surrounding country. 

A number of tracts of land were purchased con­

taining valuable timber which was cut down and 

much of the white oak lumber used in the construc­

tion of vessels. Within fifteen years, 0. S. Watson 

& Co. had built at Milford, fifteen veseels ranging 

from sbrty to two hundred tons b11rthen. 'l'hese ves­

sels they used in shipping tlie grain, bark, staves and 

lumber to Philadelphia and New York. All the 

merchandise sold in the store was billed M a relllrn 

curgo. Th y lllso brought lime from the .Hudson or 

N orLh River on the return trip and sold i't here to the 

formers of the vicinity. 

In 1856, 0. S. Watson & Oo. retired from the gen-

1·11] mercha.ndiiling businesa. Betbuel, ·tbe junior 

member of the firm died the next year. urtis 

Wat.sou then eng11,ged in buying noel selling grain, 

guano and pbosphates which be co.ntinued with great 

sncMss for a quarter of a century at Milford. He 

retired from business in 1882 to attend to hia large 

landed interest in Kent alld Sussex Oountiea aggre­

gating in all two thousand fiv e huudred acres. The 

fll.l'ms which he now owru1, he purcl1ruied nt various 

Limes with means he accumllhited through his rare 

ability as a business mau. In addition he qwns th'ree 

Atol'e buildings and tbe- post-office bnild.ing on 

Wn.lnnt Street and bis large residence on Front 

Street in Mil rod. 
In 1876 CurtiB •. Watson wu.s one of the organizers 

of the First aUonttl ]lank of Milford and hns since 

been a member of the board of directors of th, t 

institution. Re served ru; a member of the bo11,rd of 

town commissioners for ten years; and was president 

oi lhe board seveml terms. 

He was fl.fteen years a director in the Junction and 

Breakwater Railroad, from Harrington to Lewes. 

In poliLica he h118 always been a staunch democrat. 

Ria first presidentilil vote w11,s cast for Andrew Jack­

son, in 1882, and he has since -voted at every presiden­

tial election for the candidate of his pa·rty. He was 

elected a representative to the Legislature in l!!Q9, 

e.nd re-elected in 18Gl, serv ing in all, four yea.rs. 

From 1871 to 1875, he represented Keut County in 

the State S nate. For fifty years lie has been a 

member of the Methodist Episcopal Church. of Mil­

ford and a trust e and stew11rd for a loug period. He 

is a Jil,)ernl supporter of the church and devoted to 

itjil interests and to the cause of religion. He was 

made a M11.11on ]1alf a century .ago, in 'femple Lodge, 

No. 9, of Milford, and became a Royal Arch. Maso11, 

thirty years later. 
In 1840 Mr. W11tson, made his first visit to Sara.­

toga New York, then a s111all villiage. Every year 

since that time be has spent about sixty-five days of 

the hot summer months at that now f1imou11 pleasure 

resort, making in all forty-seven visit.I in forty-seven 

years. 
Mr. W atsen was married, J anus,ry 15, 1883, to 

rah, dnughter of Thomas Davis, of Cedar Greek 

B'.undred, by wl1om he had seven children, all sons. 

Ilis wife died November 15, 1851. Their surviving 

children are Beniah W11blon, 11,ttor_ney at law·, practic­

ing nt Dover, Del11,wnre, and Dr. R. Y. Watson, the 

present post~n.ster at Milford. 

' urtis S . Watson \\'llB married, July 27, 1853, to 

Lydia A. White, daughter of :reorge White, of 

Milford. 
Peter F. Causey and Dr. Lofland had mills for 

grinding quercitron or oak bark. D. H. Holland 
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started general merchandizing where H,ume has his 
hardware store in 1837, thence he removed to a store 
which stands nearly opposite where he is now, and in 
1880 he came to his present location. He took his 
son, Joseph E., into partnership with him, and has 
since done a leading business, and is now the mer­
chant of the longest standing in the place. John Jump 
commenced about the same time that Holland did, 
and discontinued recently. Randall Williams and 
Henderson Collins, William C. Williams and Benjamin 
Potter, who left a will giving his property to the poor 
of Kent County, outside of the poor-house, were all 
merchants in Milford. Noah Lofland was one of the 
first hatters here, and his son, William, whom Ander­
son succeeded, and T. P. McColley worked at the 
business. 

Benjamin Anderson commenced the hatter busif1ess 
in 1836, and WRB one of the last hatters in the state, 
when he discontinued in 1860. After he stopped 
making hats, he associated his son with him in the 
dry-goods business. 

In 1878 Benjamin Anderson started the present 
grocery business. Alexander Pullen started the nur­
sery business in Milford, in 1870. He hru:i since asso­
ciated James F. Anderson in the business with him, 
and they sell from two to three hundred thousand 
peach trees yearly, beside ten thousand apple and five 
thousand pear trees, vines and berries. Hall & Son 
are also doing a large business. 

The railroad takes considerable btisines.s from the 
shippers by water. The largeRt importation by vessel 
is material for fertilizers, and coal. The out-going 
vessels carry pine and oak wood and piling, also oak 
timber for ship building. George Hall and D. H. 
Holland 'are principally engaged in shipping wood. 

John Pettigrew came to Milford from Scotland, and 
was a soldier of the Revolution. He owned the 
property where James M. Hall now resides. He 
married Ann McN eill, and had three daughters-Ann, 
wife of Dr. Greer, Margaret, wife of Dr. Joseph Sud­
ler, and Leah, wife of J. Millechop. Of Millechop's 
daughters, Sally was the wife of Ezekiel Cowgill; 
Margaret married Elias Naudain; Ann married Pur­
nell Hall, a farmer and cabinet-maker; Mary G. 
married John Greer; Lavinia R. married Dr. Kars­
ner, and Clara M. married James C. Wilson, 

Governor William Tharp was born November 
27, 1803, and died January 1, 1865. His great-grand­
father was John Tharp, of Sussex County, England, 
who settled in Kent County, Delaware. His son, 
William married Ruth Clark, and their son James 
married Eunice Fleming. Their son, William (the 
Governor), had a family of daughters that married 
and settled in Milford and vicinity. Ruth is the 
mother of William Watson, and Williamina is tha 
wife of C. J. Hall, lately Clerk of the Peace for Kent 
County, 

Miss HarrietMcNatt, who was born with the cen­
tury, and is the last of her family, has a very clear 
recollection of events that took place in the early his-

76 

tory of the town. Her grandfather, Richard Dela­
ner, was one of the early settlers and owned a large 
tract of land on the road to Harrington, at Delaner's 
Cross Roads, about three and three-fourths miles from 
Milford. He was a large planter, and carried on store 
keeping and a tavern. He was an Irishman by birth, 
and fought for the Americans all throu'gh the Revolu­
tionary War. He died in 1810, aged eighty-one. 
He had two sons-Levin H. and John, and a daugh­
ter, Mary, the wife of Major McNatt, and Harriet R., 
now aged eighty-seven, is the only surviving member 
of the family. Her mother remembered when there 
were only three houses in Milford-Joseph Oliver's 
house, which stood where Colonel WatRon and Mrs. 
Ruth Carlisle's residence now stands, then called 
Oliver's Landing; William Sordons, a merchant, and 
Isaiah James, a tanner. Afterwards, William Brinckle 
lived where J 1:tmes Truitt lives, and carried on tan­
ning. He was very'.aged when he died. His children 
were William\ John and Mary, wife of Dr. John 
Adams. Thomas Collins had a large family, all of 
whom are dead or have moved away. 

The first school Miss McNatt attended was in 1808, 
near her grandfather Delaner's. It was kept in a log 
school-house with an earthen floor, with planks around 
the outside for desks. The Quakers had a meeting­
house where Rosa lives. Gauladett Oliver and John 
Thomas were Friends. The former had three sons­
J oseph, Thomas and Paul, and several daughters. 
Ann, wife ·of William Godwin, Governor Rogers, Gov­
ernor Tharp, Governor Burton and Governor Causey 
all resided here. David Walton and Colonel Hall 
were cabinet-makers. Samuel Ratcliffe lived in South 
Milford years ago, in a IHtle red house. 

HoTELS.-Daniel Godwin built the brick part of 
the Lowery Honse, it being the first three-story build­
ing in the place. He kept the hotel a number of 
years and was superintendent of the stage route from 
Wilmington to Seaford. He also engaged in the mer­
cantile business, and built the house now owned by 
A. B. Cooper. He was also a local Methodist 
preacher. His son, William, became commis8ion 
merchant in Philadelphia, and Frank was president 
of the Corn Exchange, in the same city. Daniel C. 
was in partnership with his father many years. Sam­
uel P. founded the Franklin Reformatory Home, in 
Philadelphia, and is its president. Peter F. Causay 
purchased this property and sold it to Justus Lowerey, 
the present proprietor. Joseph Walton first leased the 
Stine lot on Sentember 18, 1786, and in 1792 he made 
a lease for a ground rent for $8.13. Walton and 
family built and occupied this lot several years. Mar­
tin Dewaile, a Frenchman, came into possession of the 
property, and his widow kept a hotel there. The suc­
cesgive owners since have been William A. Mygatt, 
Levi Harris, John W. Jump and Richard F. Stine, 
who has erected a fine brick hotel. J. C. Shockley 
kept this hotel for twenty years. 

PHYSICIANs.-Dr. Joseph Sudler was one of the 
first physicians in the place; he married a daughter 
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of John Pettigrew. D1·. Jnmes P. Lofland, Oov. "Bur­

ton, M.D. nnd Dr. Jnme11 R Mitchell, were the tJ.tree 

leading phys ic.inns for many years. Dr. Owen, was 

ahio an early pJ1ysician. Dr. John S. P rettyman came 

to the vilh1ge when a youug man arid in counection 

with his sou isstiJ l practicing here. Dr. :Nathan Pratt, 

Dr. ~Iark G. ·Lofland, Dr. J. 0. Pierce, are o.mong 

later phyaicians. Dr. J. D. Strong, was ~he first lio11100-

pa1hic physician in the pince; ho built tho residence 

now occupied by J. ll. Smith. 

'!'here are eight physicialll! practiciug medicine in 

Milford, Dr. Wm. Marshall and son, Dr. Q. ·w. 

Marshall, Dr. J . W. Purnell, Dr. Nathan Pratt, Dr. 

J. 0. Pierce, John S. Prettyman Md son, John 

Prettyma.n, Dr. J. G. Dawson, who baa ono o f the 

finest collection of Indian relics to be found outside 

of the S mil.hsoninn Institute. 

Dr. Jnme3 R. Mitchell was born in Caroline Cow1ty, 

Maryland, in 1806, and moved to Milford with his 

parents when he WM one year old. Ho was educated 

here and read medicine with Dr. Burton, of Milford, 

and 11U.ended the University of Maryland. Ile located 

in Milford, n.ud had n successful prnctice for forty 

ye&J"S. 
Purnell Lofland, lived and died in Milford. He 

bad two children by hiij lh11t wife, Mnry Robim1on, 

Dr. J llOles R. Lofland nnd Eli1.11beth, wife of Spencer 

WilUam~, who was cas.hier of the Commercial Bank 

of Milford. His secoad wife Willi Arcadia Burton. 

Of hid chiltlrfill by bis second mnrriago, P urnc.11 

w11s a merchant, and a lieutenant in the .Mexican War, 

Mary WM the wife of Snmuel Harrington, and Ann 

married --- A.usti11. 

D r. ,Tohn Owens, a native of Nn.11ticoke Hun­

d red, SuS.<Jex County, wa.➔ born in 1787, at Sl. 

Johnstown. He studied medicine wiLh Dr. J os. 

Sudler, and graduated nt the CJniversity of P en nsyl­

van.ln, in 1819. Ile pr<1cUced medicine in Milford 

and Frederica for many years in lho presenL century. 

His wife w11s Mary, a daughter of l salrtl1 James, orre 

of the 11rst 11ettlers, and Will! cousidered a great belle 

in her day. Dr. O1vens was a chart.er member and 

fi l"8t secretary of Temple Lodge. One of his sons, 

Frederick J ., bec.'Ullea physician. 

Charles T. Fleming, son of Deninh Fleming, was 

born in Mispillion Hundred, about seven miles from 

Milford, fo 1805, is det!Ce.udedJrom William Fleming, 

who came to Mispilli<>u Bm\clred, from Scothmd, 

in 1740, and took up four hundred acres r,f land. 

Charles T. came to MiJford in 1827, and in 1836 

commenced surveying; havi113 collected the old sur­

veys of James, Wii!irun 11Ud Manlove Johnson, he 

became U,e m ost competent surveyor in this part of 

the elute, and be hns done considerable conveyancing. 

Ile was notary public, nnd commiS8ioner of deeds for 

New York, for ll'll\ny year,;; for forty years he w111111gcnt 

for 1he F11rmers' lilulunl Fire Insurance Compitny. 

In 1837, he was a Whig membC'r of tLc l egisliuure. 

Orjgiunlly n Prcsbyteri1tn, he joined t.he Melhodist 

church during the time there was no Prcabyteriau 

church in the place. In 1888, Mr. Fleming hi.id out 

in building lots, eight or nine acre.<1 belonging to 

Frnuk Riokarda, situated in the northe.<\Stern part of 

tbo town, which arc now (1887) largely occupied by 

dwellings. 

Colonel Thomas Pt:terkin wne a bachelor, a ve:ry 

demonstrative man, wilh decided conviclioll8, true to 

the Cl\llllelie &!poused, and proverbially honest. John 

w·. Rt:dden was a carriage-maker here. He married 

Catherine, a. daughter of Gufaudette Oliver. They 

removed to Natchez, Mississippi, in 1820. W illiam 

Brinck lo, Jr., son of ,villiam J3rinck:le, S r., w!U! born 

in Milford. John r . Brinck:le was a lawyer at George­

t-0wn, where he died quite young, 

MU,FORD BJUDGr-:.- In Juno, 1785, an act" was 

pll.Slled to enl\blo Juscph Oliv,er, of Kent (;ouncy, to 

erect a bridge over Miiq>iJlion Oreek. Io 1791 i.bis 

net was repenJed an<\ the foll0\1riug was enacted: 

"Whereas, I.he drnw-bridge ovei- Wspillion Creek 

on the public ro11d leading from the village of?ililford 

into - the county of Sussex hllth become of greaL 

utility t.o the inhabitaota of Kent nnd Su!lScx Couu­

tJes, hence it was provided that each county should 

pay half of the expenses of keeping and repairing 

tLe bridge nnd lsa:tc Da'1ia and John Ralston, of 

Kent, Daniel Rogerli a11d Nathaniel Rayes, of Sus­

sex, were appointed coounissionefl! to carry out tbe 

provisions of the act. The net fu rther provided tha~ 

the bridge between abubnents should be 1.hirt.y-five 

feet, nineteen feet of which sbould be a draw or plat.­

form eighteen feet wide with good and sufficient 

chains for raising and lowering lhe same, a provisfon 

I.hat was neccessary when ve88els ascended tho MiH• 

pillio11 to a point o.bove the bridge." 

STJtEl,,'1.' L IG.lfTlNO AND Furn DEPAJlT).fE.'IT.-An 

act to regulate nod light the slreets of Milford was 

passed February 5, 1807. This act Willi subsequently 

repealed. Now the streets ure befog lighted by 

electric light. Milford Hook lllld Ladder Company 

Willi organized in February, 186!'!, wiLh M.-uk G. Lof­

land, prwdent; .Reuben A. Stewitrd, vice•president; 

P. C. Foe.,ett, secretary; J ustis Lowery, Lreasurer; 

WilUnm B. Lowery, fire marabal 'l'he company 

contained about twenty members. 

BA.NXs.-ElilLB Shockley owned n. controlling iot.cr­

Cllt in the old Commercial Bank. H e was largely en­

gaged in merchandising and gave hia nnmeruisecurity 

too freely causiog his failure, nnd the bank went 

dolVn with him. Afi.er this failure the Smyrna Dank 

established n branch office at.MHford and did banking 

businllll8 hero until the estnbliishment of tho present 

bunk. '!'he First No.tional Bank of :Milford was 

chartered JuJy 27, 1876. The first board of directors 

were H. B. Fiddemon, C. S. Watson, M. lt. Oarlisle, 

Jamc>.s R. Lofland, (leorgc R usseU, Robert H. Davis, 

James B. Deputy, C. J. Harrington, Jamei M. Hall. 

'£he fir11iofficers were H.B . .l!"iddeman, president; J.B. 

Smith, Cll8hier, nnd Isaac 8. Truii.t, teller. W .R Aldr ed 

is the prcSont te ller. T. J . Davis, Georges. Grier and 

J. B. l:imitb are among the director;; now. A.ccor1ling 



-- -~ -------- - -- ---
--- -------- - - - --

KENT COUNTY. 1195 

to report in 1887, the cash capital of the bank is sixty 
thousand eight hundred dollars; surplus, thirty-five 

thousand dollars; undivided profits, $11,659.58. 

ScHOOLS.-William Johnson bought the lot now 

owned by C. W. Davidson in -1187, and lived and 

died there. He was a surveyor and one of the first, 

if not the first, school teachers in the place. Like all 

the schools here, up to 1832 it was a private school. 

In Johnson's note-book the following notice!! appear: 

Thursday, March 25, 1788: "Notice is taken that 

James Train called William Russell a liar. Witness, 

William Pope." "Notice is taken that Peter Robin­

son was absent from the school till the evening." 

'' ~ otice is taken that James Train came to an engage­

ment in school this evening." A system of pri­

vate schools has been continued with varying success 

until the present time. A private school or academy 

was held in the Masons' building for many years. In 

1832 the first public-school in the northern part of 

the town was held in the house now owned by J. B. 
Smith, and William Dickinson was the first teacher; 

this building was sold to Captain James Thompson 

and the Masonic building was purchased for public 

schoQl purpeses in 1846 and Wll.!l used uutil 1887 when 

it was remodeled and enlarged. There is also a public 

school in South Milford. 
Daniel S. Ells, 11uperintendent of North Milford 

public schools, January 15, 1887, reported as follows: 

The value of the school property is two thousand 

dollars with four teachers and one hundred and 

twenty-thrne pupils. Charles W. All en, priucipal of 

the South Milford School, reported tbat the school 

preperty is worth forty-five hundred dollars; amount 

of money raised by tax, eighteen hundred dollars; 

amount of money received from the State, eight hun­

dred dollars ; amount paid for teachers' salaries, 

ighteen hundred nnd ninety doJJ1m1. Tho school is 

in operation Dine months in tl1e year with an average 

attendance of one hundred and forty-two pu1lils out 

of two hundred and twenty-one, the whole number 

on the roll. 
The Milford Female Institute was conducted by Rev. 

Mr. Kennedy for six or seven years. Mr. Kennedy 

was pastor of the Presbyterian Church at the time, 

and desiring to edncate his own family he started a 

school for females where the common branches, lan­

guages and music were taught, and many of the the 

young ladies of Milford were here educated. 

SoCIETIEs.-Kirkwood Encampment, No. 6, was or­

gauized September 4, 1850, with the follcrwing charter 

members: Thomas Wallace, Joseph H. Bennett, John 

H. Denning, Joseph C. Gorby, RobertH. Clark, John 

S. Moody, William C. Welsh, Joseph L. Linderman. 

Milford Grange, No. 6.-The first grange in the 

State was organized in West Brandywine, in 1874, by 

Mr. Hamilton, then residing in California. Milford 

Grange was organized the Rame year, with John G. 

Rosa as the first master. There are from thirty to 

f@rty members in the Milford Grange at present. Mr. 

Rosa resides where the old F riends' meeting-house 

formerly stood, and is one of the most enterprising 
farmers in the vicinity. 

Temple Lodge, No. 9, .A. F. and .A. M., was organized 

in Milford, Jan. 16, 1815. This lodge was organized 

by General Jesse Green, who was the first Master. 

The other officers were John Mitchell, Sr. W.; James 

Millochop, Jr. W. ; Colonel Thomas Peterkin, Treas­

urer; Dr. John O1vens, Secretary; John W. Redden, 

S. D. ; William Brinckle, Jr., J. D. The Masters 

since the organization up to 1846 have been Jesse 

Green, James Millechop, Jr. (five times), John 

Mitchell, John W. Redden, Dr. James B. Lofland 

(thirty-eight times), Spencer Williams, Joseph G. O. 

Oliver, Edward Collins, Beniah Watson, William M. 

Godwin, Liston A. Houston, Dr. William Burton, 

Wi!lill,m F. Revill, Daniel C. Godwin. They met in 
a building, part of which is the present public school 

building, until :about 1846. A private school was con­

ducted in this building for many years, and it is said 

that a number' of poor children, some of whom have 

since become prominent, were educated at the expense 

of the Masons. This lodge was the parent lodge of a 

mtmber of other lodges in the vicinity. 
Orystal Fount Lodge, No. 10, L 0. of 0. F., was or­

ganized February 10, 1847. The charter members 

were Joseph S. Bennett, Joseph C. Gorby, Samuel 

P. Godwin, John H. Denning, Joseph L. Linderman, 

all of whom are still living but Linderman. During 

its existence till 1887 the lodge has paid $7079 bene­

fits to sick members; for burying the dead $6502 ; re­
lief of widows and children about $700; outside 

charities $693. Present assets $5816.23. One mem­

ber, J. G. Foulk, has been Grand Master of the 

State. Three members-J. G. Foulk, Alexander Hall 

and Samuel M. Simpler, have been representatives to 

the Sovereign Grand Lodge. The present member­

ship is forty-nine. In 1879 ground was purchased 

and the beautiful Odd Fellows' cemetery was sur­

veyed into burial lots. Since the organization of the 

lodge nearly every public celebration in the town has 

been managed by the order. 
RELIGIOUS MATTERs.-Ohrist Church, 1704-1887. 

-Tbe Rev. Thomas Crawford, a missionary of the 

English " Society for the Propagation of the Gospel 

in Foreign Parts," stationed at Dover, is believed to 

have held the first service of the Church of England 

in the lower part of Kent County, in the year 1704. 

The congregation then worshipped at a place three 

miles west of the present town of Milford, though it 

is not known in what year the first church building 

was erected, or precisely where it stood. As early as 

1745 a small wooden chapel, supposed to have been 

the second edifice of the kind, thirty-six feet long by 

thirty feet wide, was built at the point known as 

Church Hill. This building is mentiioned in the 

missionary reports under the name of Ghrist Church 

Mispillion, though it was popularly called "The Sav­

annah Church," on account of a swamp near by, or, 

pe-rhnps, to distinguish it from "the Tlwte R·ur,:a.meet­

ing-bouse " of the PrE>sbytel'ians, situated tw0 miles 
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further down the creek. At this date, the English 
minister stationed at Dover, and officiating also at 
Mispillion and Duck Creek, was the Rev. Arthur 
Usher. He was succeeded by the Rev. Hugh Neil, 
who, in turn, was followed, in 1757, by the Rev. Chas. 
Inglis. At the end of a sucl'essful administration 
of six years, Mr. Inglis was called from this field to 
the rectorship of Trinity Church, New York. The 
next name on the list of ministers is that of the Rev. 
Samuel Magaw. With his removal terminated the 
fostering care of the Venerable Propagation Society 
over the English Churches of Kent County. From 
this time the Mi~pillion Church appears to have had 
a separate existence and history. 

In 1773-75 the Rev. Sydenham Thorne arrived and 
took up his residence near Church Hill. l\Ir. Thorn_e, 
like his predecessor in the rectorship, was probably of 
English birth and education, though he came to this 
County from Virginia. Besides having considerable 
ability as a scholar and preacher, he was also distin­
guished for the refinement and elegance of his man­
ner. Wealthy, benevolent and public-spirited, he was 
said, by one who well remembered him, to have been 
the most influential man of the county; and this, 
notwithstanding his political and religious principles 
of unconcealed loyalty to the King and Church of 
England. 

In the year 1777 Mr. Thorne came into possession 
of the farm on the west side of Mullet Run, a little 
stream which empties into the creek two miles east of 
Church Hill. This property was subsequently owned 
by his nephew, Petflr Caverly, then by James Clayton, 
and afterwards by the late Benjamin Potter, who, at his 
death, devised it to his grand-nephew and namesake. 
On this land the parson, in 1779, erected the large and 
imposing brick house, known as the Thorne Mansion, 
-almost the only relic of the last century which has 
been allowed to remain without alteration to the 
present day. Among the parishioners of the Savan­
nah Church was Joseph Oliver, who owned the farm 
extending from Mullet Run, a quarter of a mile east­
ward, towards another land mark on the bank of the 
Mispillion, called the High Hill. At the instance of 
the parson, or mainly under his direction, it is said, 
Oliver about this time divided his land, or a large part 
of it, into town lots and streets. Of these lots two 
were given for the use of the parish church and grave­
yard; and here, in 1791, was laid the foundation of 
the present Christ Church, Milford. Much oppo­
sition was made in certain quarters to the removal of 
the house of worlihip to another site, and, in conse­
quence, some of the members refused or withheld 
their assistance in the new enterprise. But notwith­
standing this drawbuck, the building went on until 
the walls were rll'i secl a:nd roofed in, the parson "him­
self paying the cost of the brick, which were made 
of clay dug from Oliver's land, and burned in a kiln 
three hundred yards north of the church. The sills 
rafters, beams and girders were constructed out of 
trees grown on Mr. Thorne's farm, cut down and 

hewn at his expense, and, when necessary, slwed into 
shape at his own mill. The death of this zealous man, 
February 13, 1793, interrupted the building of the 
church, and the work remained at a standstill for more 
than a quarter of a century. 

As originally designed, the edifice was of two stories, 
having galleries on the north, west and south sides, 
and the Communion Table on the east. The pews 
were made with high and straight backs, and the pul­
pit was a quaint-looking affair, shaped like a chalice, 
and surmounted by a l@fty canopy or sounding-board. 
It was placed in the east wall, over the holy table, so 
that the preacher might look into the galleries as well 
as upon the audience in the pews beneath. The in­
side of the building, designed to be finished in a semi­
circle, ~eems never to have been carried any further 
than the putting in of the arched pieces intended to 
hold up the ceiHng. It was not until the year 1835 
that the original church thus begun in 1791 by parson 
Thorne, was entirely completed. 

The next minister of the parish was the Rev. 
William Pryce, who officiated until 1800. He then 
removed to Wilmington and became the rector of 
Trinity Church ( Old Swedes), in that town. Seven­
teen years later the church was again under the 
charge of the Dover minister, the Rev. Henry R. 
Judah, until 1819, when the Rev. Joseph Spencer 
was made master of the academy in Milford, and, in 
connection with this position, rector of the parish. 
Mr. Spencer, afterwards doctor of divinity, resigned 
these offices in 1822-231 and was appointecl principal 
of the University Grammar School, Philadelphia. 
Services were now maintained till 1830 by the Rev. 
Daniel Higbee; and three years later than thiR date, 
began the rectorship of the man who was destined to 
complete the building of the temple whose founda­
tion had been laid by the lamented Thorne, nearly 
a half century before. The Rev. Corry Chambers 
was an Irishman, and graduate of Trinity College, 
Dublin, who had been but a few years in this 
country, and was previously settled in Lewistown, 
Pennsylvania. An energetic man and a popular 
preacher, he soon succeeded in bringing together and 
adding to the flock, scattered and discouraged since 
the departure of Parson Higbee, until the church 
was filled again, on Sundays and at other religious 
festivals, with an interested and devout assembly. 

During Mr. Chambers' ministry, a new roof was 
put on, the galleries and pews received their first coat 
of paint, and the pulpit was adorned with hangings 
and upholstery of crimson silk, in the most approved 
style of the day. It i~ related that, jnst after these 
extensive improvements were completed, and before 
ever a service had been held, the new roof in some 
unaccountable manner suddenly took fire. The 
accident, by good fortune, happened at midday, and 
an alarm brought swiftly to the spot a score of inter­
ested citizens, by whose willing help the flames were 
extinguished in a few moments, and before any con­
siderable damage had been done. 
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A pertinent illustration of the old adage, "to strike 
while the iron is hot," was afforded, on this occasion, 
by Mr. Chambers, who, thinking the opportunity too 
good to be lost, immediately after the fire, opened on 
the spot a subscription paper for repairs, and with 
tears in hie eyes, went about among the bystanders, 
soliciting money; until presently, he had received 
contributions and pledges amounting to twice as 
much as was required to make good the damage. 
The church, now entirely finished and furnished, was, 
in 1836, consecrated to pious uses by the Rt. Rev. 
Henry U. Onderdonk, provisional bishop of the 
diocese of Delaware. 

Soon after this date, Mr. Chambers was succeeded 
by the Rev. John Reynolds, who remained in charge 
till 1843, meanwhile supplementing his slender salary 
by giving instruction to the young people of the town 
and others, at the Midford Academy. 

In the following year the church fell to the pastoral 
care of the Rev. John Linn McKim. This gentle­
man, a native of Carlisle, Pennsylvania, was gradu­
ated at Dickinson College, in the class of 1830, and 
had been a pupil there of Doctor Joseph Spencer, 
sometime rector of Milford, and afterwards profeesor 
of Ancient languages in this institution. Mr. Mc­
Kim was himself a thorough classical and mathe­
matical scholar. Like his predecessor at Milford, he 
was master of the academy as well as rector of the 
church. His learning was said to be accurate-, varied 
and extensive, and he was especially remarkable for 
the rare power he possesRed of adapting his sermons 
to the character and needs of those who heard them. 
A man of singularly pure life, of gentle manners and 
cultivated taste, he deserves to be ranked with Inglis, 
Magaw, Thorne and other worthies whose names are 
destined to be held in grateful remembrance as long 
as the parish shall have a history to record . 

By the choice of the vestry and congregation, the 
rectorship now descended from father to son; and, in 
1863, the Rev. John Layton McKim began his 
ministry in the venerable church. A native of Dela­
ware, and a graduate of the University of Pennsylva­
nia, it is a point interesting in this connection, that 
he received his academic degree precisely a century 
after his predecessor, Mr. Magaw, who had graduated 
at the same college in 1757. The coincidence goes 
further; for he also came to the parish just a hundred 
years later than his illustrious fellow-alumnus. Like 
him, too, he seems to have had a faculty for teaching, 
and devoted a large part of his time to this profession. 
The most successful teachers often prove to oe also 
the most useful clergymen, and the two offices have 
been united in the case of more than one minister of 
thi~ parish, who, but for the increased compensation 
which followed, might have been compelled to "shake 
the dust off their feet and depart," even though the 
people had been ever so willing to listen to their 
instruction and submit to their administration. 

During the incumbency of Mr. McKim, the church 
was enlarged by the addition of chancel, sacristry 

and tower; the new work being carried on chiefly 
under his own direction and supervision. But while 
the ancient edifice was remodelled as to its roof and 
general outside appearance, the walls, ground-sill 
and floor, were allowed to remain as originally placed 
by Mr. Thorne. 

Mr. McKim resigned in 1880, and at this date the 
parish is administered by the Rev. James 0. Kerr. 
Under his judicious direction, the church has lately 
been decorated in the best style of ecclesiologic.al art, 
and otherwise improved until it is perhaps not sur­
passed in beauty and convenience by any house of 
worship in the state. 

Milford Presbyterian Ohurch.-The Three Runs 
Presbyterian Church is supposed to have been organ­
ized in the la.tter part of the seventeen th or the first 
part of the eighteenth century. It was located on 
the ground now occupied by an old abandoned grave­
yard and too~ its name from the Three Runs of the 
Mispillion Creek. It was a frame structure with a 
brick floor and was abandoned as a place of worship 
in the early part of the present century. MiseMcNatt 
remembers that her grandfather Delaner and family 
worshipped here. Governor Tharp's family also were 
Presbyterians. The records are lost, but the follow­
ing election of trustees in 1819 has been preserved. 
"At a meeting of the Presbyterian Congregation of 
Three Runs held at Milford, January 11, 1819, Joseph 
Hazlett, Robert P. Campbell, John Shafer, Robert 
King and William Satterfield were elected trustees." 
The Ra!Mto,ns worshipped here also. When Rev. G. 
W. Kennedy came to Milford in 1849, there were 
only two members of thi:1 church remaining, Robert 
King aud his sister. Mr. King was a firm Calvinist 
and devoted his life largely to the study of the Scrip­
tures and theological works, and was liberal in giving 
for religious purposes. 

In 1849, the Presbytery of Wilmington instructed 
Rev. G. W. Kennedy, an Evangelist, for the Presby­
tery to visit Milford, and, if the way be open to 
organize a Presbyterian Church there. He visited 
Milford and found only two Presbyterians. One was 
the wife of Governor William Tharp and the other 
was Miss Johnson afterwards Mrs. Primrose. In a 
shor~ time other Presbyterians moved to Milford and 
a church was organized with seven members, viz.: 
Mr. and Mrs. William V. Coulter, Mrs. Governor 
Tharp, Mrs. Edward P. Morris, Mrs. Purnell Lofland 
and Mrs. S. M. Kennedy, the pastor's wife. 

A move was made at once to build a church, and 
Governor Tharp, Colonel, afterwarda Governor Cau­
sey, Dr. James P. Lofland and John Hazzard were 
appointed a building committee, with Rev. George 
W. Kennedy as chairman and financial agent, through 
wh<1se untiring exertions a neat and substantial brick 
church and parsonage were erected in 1850. At the 
organization of the church, William V. Coulter was 
elected and ordained a ruling elder, subsequently 
Rufus K. Baynum and Robert 0. Hall, were elected 
and ordained elder::!. After a number of additions 
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had been made to the church in March, 1856, 
Rev. Mr. Kennedy resigned his position as stated 
supply. The church remained vacant until Novem­
ber, 1857, when Rev. John W. Mears, of Philadel­
phia waa elected pastor. During the first year of his 
pastorate, thirteen members were added to the church. 
He resigned February 15, 1860, and November 14, 
1860, Rev. J. Garland Harned succeeded to the pastor­
ate and waa installed. He resigned September 20, 
1863. Then the Rev. L. P. Bowen, a licentiate, was 
received aa stated supply, and entered upon his duties 
January 24, 1864. At this time there were thirty­
four members. He resigned January 28, 1866, and 
was succeeded by Rev. John F. Severance. At the 
same time Colonel Henry B. Fiddeman, Henry J. 
Hall and Jacob Y. Foulk, were elected ruling elders. 
Mr. Severance was succeeded by Rev. Richard A. 
Mallery, July 12, 1868, who died June 9, 1875, and 
after an interval of a year, Rev. A. A. Dinsmore was 
elected paRtor. Messrs. James B. Gilchrist and Ed­
win Hopkins were elected to the eldership. Mr. 
Dinsmore closed his labors as pastor in November, 
1875, and WIIB succeeded by Charles F. Boynton, who 
began his pastorate February 1, 1876. He resigned 
in January, 1879, and the pulpit was supplied by Rev. 
S. K. Schofield until February 1880, when Rev. H. L. 
Bunstein became pastor and continues as such to 
date, September, 1887. During his pastorate, William 
Marshall, M.D., John B. Smith and William A. Humes 
were elected ruling elders. There are at present on 
the roll of membership two hundred and ten names. 

Mr. Bunstein was born in Easton, Pennsylvania, 
August 18, 1844, graduated at Lafayette College in 
1864 and at Union Theological Seminary in 1872. He 
was pastor of Clinton Street Presbyterian Church, 
Philadelphia, from 1872 to 1876, of Beech Creek Pres­
byterian Church 1877-1880, and was called to Milford 
in November 1879. 

Methodist Episcopal Church at Milford.-October 18, 
1787, Francis Asbury, in his journal, says: "I had 
divine aid in preaching at Milford, the house was open 
and the day was cold." December 3, 1787, Joseph 
Oliver deeded to Nathaniel Smithers, Jr., Joseph 
Aydelott, William Ward, Elias Shockley, Thomas 
Ross, Reynear Williams, William Beauchamp, John 
Taylor and David Beauchamp, a lot containing four­
teen thousand four hundred square feet "for the use 
and express purpose of building a preaching house or 
church thereon for the only proper use and benefit of 
the religious society of people called Methodidts." 
Tuesday, October 22, 1789, Asbury says: "Rode to 
Milford ; we had a great move and noble shouting." 
Rev. Mr. Whatcoat was presiding elder here then. 
Milford Circuit first appears in the minutes of the 
Methodist Church in 1789, Thomas Jackson and 
William Ratcliffe, preachers, Richard Whatcoat, Pre­
siding Elder. The circuit must have embraced a large 
amount of ierritory, as the membership reported is 
eight hundred and seventy-nine whites and two hun­
drt>d and thirty-six color-ed. The early records of 

Milford Church are not to be found, but from the 
recollection of the oldest inhabitants it appears that 
Samuel Draper, Julia Adkind, George S. Adkins, 
Henry Hudson and wife, Walker Sipple and wife, 
Lowder Layton and wife, John R. Draper and wife, 
Jabez Crocker and. wife, Wesley Collins and wife, 
Benjamin Henderson and wife, were prominent mem­
bers. Revs. James Bateman, Levi Stark8, George 
Taylor, John D. Onins and Charles Carsner, are re­
membered. The latter had a great revival in 1837 
which was kept up night and day, and one hundred 
and thirty-seven members were added to the church. 
Daniel Godwin, Molton Rickards, George Adkins, 
Wesley Collins and Samuel Draper are remembered 
as class leaders. In 1855, during Rev. William An­
near's ministration, there was a great revival, and 

·many joined the church. There was another great 
revival in 1874, during Rev. D. C. Ridgway's pastor­
ate, and some tltree hundred joined the church, 
ninety of whom we~e from the Sunday-school. The 
first Methodist church, which stood nearly opposite 
where· the present church stands, was sold at public 
sale for $49.50. In 1840 the second church was built 
on the site of the present church. Among the most 
prominent subscribers to the erection {)f this church 
were Rev. Truston P. McColley, John M. Darby, 
Peter F. Causey, John Rickards, William N. W. Dor­
sey, Samuel Draper, G. S. & W. Adkins, John Wal­
lace and family,Daniel C. Godwin, James R. Mitchell, 
Charles T. Fleming, Henderson Collins, Purnell Hall, 
Henry May, Elias Smithers, George Primrose, Clem­
ent Clark, Jesse Sherwood, Beniah Watson, James 
H. Deputy. This second church and lot cost $4428. 
35. The present church was erected in 1871, at a cost 
of $19,000. William T. Vanis, Joseph S. Truitt, 
James H. Deputy, William Welsh and Peter F. 
Causey, were committee. A part.y of nine gentlemen 
bought the old church and converted it into a public 
hall. The parsonage was rebuilt at a cost of $4000, 
in 1883. A chapel has recently been bullt in South 
Milford through the instrumentality of Peter F. 
Causey, John C. Hall and Joshua Spencer, at a cost 
of $2000, for Sunday-echool purposes. The Baptists 
have recently organized a church in the town. 

Reverend Jonathan Spencer Willis, son of William 
Barnaby Willis and Mary Spencer, was born in Tal­
bot County, Maryland. His father served as sheriff 
of Talbot County, was a member of the Maryland 
Legislature four terms and was a very successful ag­
riculturalist. Oxford John Willis, his grandfather, 
was custom-house officer at Oxford, Maryland, for a 
period of forty years, when that place was a leading 
port of entry and before Baltimore developed into 
a commercial town. Oxford John Willis was the 
grandson of John Willis, the grandson of Sir Rich­
ard Willis, whe came to Virginia early in her col­
onial history, with the Fairfaxes and others who took 
up large estates in Virginia. The subject of this 
sketch is of the eighth generation in direct line of 
decent from Sir Richard Willis. Mary Spencer, his 
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membership is mentioned in the conference minutes 

in 1789. This church was re-organized and made dis­

tinctively colored at the time Bishop Scott re-organ­

ized the colored Methodist Churches throughout the 

United States, 
BIOGRAPHICAL.-Rev. Truston P. McColley was 

born March 9, 1793, and educated at the country 

schools. He became an apprentice to the hatter's 

trade ; was a merchant fo r some time and a local 

prear.her many years. Ia 1882 he was a delegate to 

the Oollllt:itutional Conven tion and made president ot 
that body. H e wns a useful mllll in the communi ty 

and the church, and died at the age of eighty-o ne. 

One of his daughters, Angeline, became the wife of 

Dr. William Marshall who was born in 1827. Dr. 

Ma!'llhall was educated at Milton and studied medi­

cine at Jefforson Medical College. He was surgeon 

on the sl1ip "Clruissa Perkins " that conveyed the 

first of the '49 men to California. He worked 

in the gold mines for a time and returned in 1851. 

He was surgeon in the army and wounded in a skir­

mi11h. He was captain in the Sixth Delaware Regi­

ment. H e removed to Milford in 1866, was secretary 

to the State Board of Health and delegi.te to the 

Ninth International Congress of Physicians. He 

owns a large flouring-mill and is otherwise interested 

in business. His son, Dr. G. W. Marshall, was born 

in 1854 and educated in Delaware College and J effer­

son College, from which he was graduated in 1876. 

He came home and married Mary L.· D1mnell and 

has been practicing medicine in Milford since that 

time, The house where Dr, Mal'llhall resides was 

built by John Law in 1787. From John Law it 

passed to John Pleasonton, a merchant who had a 

etore therein. Elias Shockley also had a store and 

a tavern. Polly Peterkin was murdered here by 

a man who married her for her money. It was the 

old Commercial Bank building, and after its failure 

the Smyrna branch bank was here also. 

CHAPTER LXV. 

SUSSEX COUNTY, 

SussEx COUNTY i8 the southernmost county of Dela­

ware, nod h m1 an are11 of nbouL nine hund red nod fi Ry 

square 1.nile11. I t ia bounded ou ~he north by Kent 

ounty nnd Delnwu.re Bay, on th ~ou th by Maryland, 

on the ea.st by Delaware Ba.y a.nd .A·t la nt ic Ocean, ou 

the west l>y Maryln.nd ILlld K ent 1ou11 ty. It ie 

drai ned by the Mi~pillion reek, Cedar ' r ek_. P rime 

H ook Creek, Tieaver nm Creek, 'ool pri.ng reek, 

Love Creek, Midd le Oreek, Miry reek, F arry's 

Oreek, Indian R iver, IronR' 'reek, Pepper Creek, 

T urkey 'reek, Herri ng Oreek, A111u\wama-ii. Bny, I oco­

moke Ri ver, Sbtials' ' reek, GJ•it):'s reek, Bro&cl reek, 

Coal reek , Tussocky Creek, L ittle reek, Nanticoke 

H.ivar, Deep reek, Gum reek, Gravelly Creek, 

Clear Creek, St. John's Creek, Marshy Hope Creek 

and the Delaware Bay and the Atlantic Ocean. 

The surface is nearly level, and a large part of 

it is covered with forests. The soil is mostly fer­

tile, the staple products being corn, wheat, cattle, 

pork, lumber and potatoes. The county is inter­

sected by the Delaware Railroad and the Junc­

tion and Breakwater Railroad, and contains thirteen 

hundreds as follows: Lewis and Rehoboth, George­

town, edar Oreok, Broadkiln, Indian River, North~ 

west Fork, Broad reek, Nnntiooke, Seaford, L ittle 

Creek, Dagsborough, .Baltirnore and Gumborough. 

The town of Georgetown, in Geo1·getown H undred, ill 

the con11ty-seat. 
The territory occupied by the present county of 

Sussex was known in the seventeenth century as 

Hooren kill, H orekill and Wborekill, and extended 

from. Bompties (Bombay) Hook to Cape Henlopen 

(Fenwick Island).: The fi rst settlemeut waa on the 

site of the present tow11 of Lewes. 

In 1658 Lieutenant Alexander De Hinijossa was 

given command of the Horekill, and was succeeded 

by Peter Alrichs,1 nephew of Vice-Director Jacob 

Alrichs, as commandant, in 1660. The territory was 

controlled by the Dutch authorities at New .Amstel 

(New Castle), and Peter .Alrichs, by reason of his 

official position, obtained a monepoly of the trade 

from Bompties Hook to Cape Henlopen, causing con­

siderable dissatisfaction among the inhabitants, who 

complained tE> the Vice-Director William Beekman, of 

Fort Altona, and he wrote to Director Stuyvesant. 

Twfil years later, 1664, the territory pa.ssed into the 

possession of the English. 
On April 22, 1665, Captain Martin Craiger, was 

granted permission to trade in Delaware Bay, and on 

November 11, 1665, Peter Alrichs was allowed to 

traffic at Horekill for "skins, peltry or what other 

commodities those parts would afford, he to make 

entry with the officers at Delaware (New Castle) of 

the quantity and quality of goods." 

On March 20, 1666, all duties on household goods 

were discontinued on the Delaware River, and on 

October 22, 1670, on petition of the inhabitants, all 

customs were abolished.' 
On January 12, 1670, a grant was made to James 

Mill8 for a "neck of land" lying "to the southward 

of the town called Whorekill." He waa also given 

I l'olcr Al rlnh• loolc up a trMt or ln n~ llt tho ITorclrlll, whUo ho 

Waft Jn cumuw.llll 111Hler tbu Dute~ but n pQt nt wse unt l1b1al uud, 

1,.nd, upon tho cnpturo or lb.a t~rrlt,)ry bf t ho Enl!;ll8h, In I C41 ~11 u,o 

lnnd In !J IB 1>o•-l.011, hoth In_ ,"" luotlo 01111 cy ru ,d "I lh6 Wlloru­

k ill, wrui om1fllllldt d ~ml later g11mlcd by Oovoruor R !nblLrd Nichole, 

tu 'l~r,t;, to Wllll,un •row, olorlt or tho coll.rt .. "au Dch11vnn,." A tract 

11t lho W horol<lll "'"' gmuiod to Tom, nn tl hls n~m o. 1,ppoa11J In " lid 

of po1wn, who•d qu lt-routa nro •till dne, "" followK: '1 Will Tom, "l 

CJ r l Whoruklll, 2 lmelu,1111." Th is trnct Wl\8 OU tl,o Who,·ekill Kiili OU 

tho • ldo or 1'1<,J!lin '• 0l'oo lc , 1L rmtalntid 0 110 humlt'ed Mid th-lrtj-tWo 

narll8 ,,utl was resur voyotl to hui1-J11 ly 7, 1075. 

• S.,nurnl Jenning&, lt1tor Oornl'Uorof Now Je,...y, In n lotlor October 

17, 1680, to 1•01111 ·1.,.w1fo c111d Imoas, II.Hlllgn••• of l~wanl By llJn.ge, 

fif\YB, 11J11 good tlmo wo C!Mlo to nnc::hor Ju ,Oolu.WM'o wh,e,re on.u, 

11 e.tor AJrlobH, cu.mo nboartl nncl broniht •~ lutufffiom pruttant to our 

0011uuandl!r ru11.l tmnt ror mu lnb:I th.o ronml-hoUBo1 whwn the-y 1H)U1 

we.ro, n.nd Pol/Jr iuhl m Im lrnd uothl og to Ill\)' ruln.Liog to cuatow1, 

bu hml no co1lllllleolou r~,• It, uor did ho k no w anybody th nt had." 


